

International food trade and natural resources

Background paper for The State of Agricultural Commodity Markets (SOCO)

> Stefano Schiavo University of Trento

Required citation:

Schiavo, S. 2022. International food trade and natural resources. Background paper for The State of Agricultural Commodity Markets 2022. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc2771en

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

ISBN 978-92-5-137145-9 © FAO, 2022



Some rights reserved. This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/legalcode).

Under the terms of this licence, this work may be copied, redistributed and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that FAO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the FAO logo is not permitted. If the work is adapted, then it must be licensed under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If a translation of this work is created, it must include the following disclaimer along with the required citation: "This translation was not created by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). FAO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original [Language] edition shall be the authoritative edition."

Disputes arising under the licence that cannot be settled amicably will be resolved by mediation and arbitration as described in Article 8 of the licence except as otherwise provided herein. The applicable mediation rules will be the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules and any arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

Third-party materials. Users wishing to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, are responsible for determining whether permission is needed for that reuse and for obtaining permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

Sales, rights and licensing. FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through <u>publications-sales@fao.org</u>. Requests for commercial use should be submitted via: www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request. Queries regarding rights and licensing should be submitted to: copyright@fao.org.

Abstract

The paper provides a review of the literature on the distribution of natural capital endowments across countries and its impact on determining trade flows. It illustrates the role trade plays in alleviating environmental pressures and the potential negative effects of trade on the environment. Finally, it discusses a range of relevant policy measures that can be adopted to reduce environmental spillovers.

Contents

Abstract	iii
Chapter 1 - Introduction and conceptual framework	1
1. Introduction	3
Chapter 2 - Virtual trade of natural resources	7
2. Virtual trade of natural resources.	9
2.1 Virtual water trade	9
2.2 Virtual land trade	12
2.3 Virtual emissions and pollution	13
2.4 Discussion	14
Chapter 3 - Negative environmental impacts of trade	17
3. Negative environmental impacts of trade	19
3.1 Water stress	20
3.2 Land use change, deforestation and biodiversity loss	21
3.3 Greenhouse gas emissions and climate change	22
Chapter 4 - Policy implications	25
4. Policy implications	27
4.1 Trade policy	27
4.2 Global vs. local governance	28
4. 3 Suggestions	29
Chapter 5 - Conclusions	31
5. Conclusions	33
DEFEDENCES	35

CHAPTER 1

Introduction and conceptual framework

1 Introduction

In the last four decades, trade in agricultural goods has increased six-fold, leading to the emergence of a truly global food system or, in the words of Robinson (2018), the "globalization of agriculture". In fact, nowadays, food accounts 80 percent of international flows of goods, while around 25 percent of agricultural production is traded across borders. International food trade entails the decoupling of consumption from local production and the availability of domestic resources such as water and land. This process has triggered the emergence of a new dimension of the debate on the merits of trade, centered on the potential increase on the environmental pressures generated, or at least channeled by international trade flows.

On the one hand, international trade has the potential to enhance global efficiency, and thus contribute to the conservation of natural resources, if goods are sourced from places featuring a higher efficiency—lower resource intensity per unit of production. On the other hand, trade can be associated with an increase in the environmental footprint of the food system if new opportunities created by accessing foreign markets and liberalization, which can trigger an expansion of production that leads to unsustainable agricultural practices, deforestation or the loss of biodiversity.

The fact that a large part of the environmental footprint of the food system is related to goods that are traded does not imply that trade causes environmental damages (Copeland *et al.*, 2021). In the absence of trade, factors of production would find other uses and crops grown elsewhere, which can generate pressure on natural resources than the world is experiencing today. In general, international trade can either increase pressure on natural habitats and resources in areas with high potential for agricultural production or reduce the global footprint of the food system by allowing production to take place elsewhere. It is local conditions that shape farmers' incentives. Trade can be an issue in poorly regulated contexts or a solution when it allows access to alternative sourcing patterns that reduce overall environmental pressures.

An additional source of concern is the possibility that globalization leads to a race-to-the-bottom in environmental protection, which would increase the overall pressure on natural resources as all countries scramble to retain activities with large material footprints and thus lower their standards and regulations. A related, but a conceptually different view is that some countries develop a "comparative advantage" in pollution (or environmentally harmful activities), also known as the pollution haven hypothesis. In this second case, however, the location of activities matters only if environmental pressures are the source of the comparative advantage that drives specialization. If, on the contrary, it stems from differences in preferences, for example, because nature conservation is considered a luxury good whose demand increases more than proportionally as income rises, then, the global footprint of the food system would not change.

On the contrary, international trade can be viewed as an adaptation strategy to lower the global impact of climate change on the food system. Gouel and Laborde (2021) find that the possibility to change sourcing patterns offered by international trade is as important as changes in the crop mix in determining countries' ability to face the negative impacts of rising temperatures on agricultural production. Moreover, the free movement of goods can have an additional positive effect in the face of weather shocks and climate-induced uncertainty, by reducing price volatility (see Verma *et al.*, 2014 for an application to the US corn market).

From a theoretical point of view, there are three main channels through which trade can affect the environment. The first is a simple scale effect whereby higher (agricultural) output requires more inputs such as land, water, fertilizers. This mechanism is likely to increase environmental pressures on exporting countries. The second channel is a composition effect driven by comparative advantages. The localization of production according to comparative advantages should lead to more efficient use of natural resources, at least if resource endowments and resource efficiency are a source of comparative advantage and can drive sourcing patterns. Third, trade can affect technology by providing greater incentives for the adoption of modes of production that save on scarce factors and facilitate technological spillovers (Fracasso and Vittucci Marzetti, 2015).

Using data from 1995 to 2009, Copeland *et al.* (2021), assess several greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and pollutants and find that the technique effect is much larger than the composition effect and, in many countries, larger than the scale effect. An important element for the current discussion is that for two pollutants primarily associated with agriculture, namely ammonia and nitrous oxide, the composition effects play a more systematic and important role, compared to other pollutants and GHGs, suggesting that shifting resources out of agriculture and into the secondary and tertiary sectors contribute to reducing some sector-specific pollutants.

A simple Heckscher-Ohlin framework where comparative advantages are based on relative endowments of factors of production, market integration leads natural resource-intensive food production to relocate to countries that are abundant in land and water. For instance, Dombi *et al.* (2021) uses a multi-regional input-output table to explore the material footprint of food consumption and provide a decomposition of the various factors that have driven the increase in environmental pressures between 1990 and 2013. Population growth appears the main force in increasing natural resource use, whereas international trade counteracts this tendency by shifting production to areas with a lower material footprint.

The savings associated with international flows of "virtual" land and water, defined as the factor content of traded (agricultural) goods, have been analyzed by a large body of literature reviewed in Section 2. Results suggest that trade does promote the conservation of water (Hoekstra and Chapagain, 2008), although there are counter-examples, for instance, the inter-regional flows in China and India, and where possible trade-offs exist across different resources (water vs. land) or environmental goals (e.g. water conservation, pollution, GHG emissions).

One critical point in the discussion of the environmental benefits and costs of international trade is the lack of an appropriate benchmark and the difficulty in establishing a clear-cut causal nexus between trade integration and the use (or abuse) of natural resources. For instance, most of the literature dealing with virtual water trade (see Hoekstra and Chapagain, 2008 and the ensuing works) assess the merit of trade by comparing the current situation with a notional scenario in which all countries produced domestically the food they consume, typically finding large water savings. This ought to be overly optimistic because in case trade is restricted, price changes are likely to induce shifts in consumption patterns that favor products more easily produced domestically. At the opposite side of the spectrum, building on multi-regional input-output tables (see for instance Wiedmann and Lenzen, 2018), trade is attributed to the whole environmental damage of final consumption that takes place in countries different from the production site, irrespective of the fact that without international transactions the same amount of food still needs to be produced elsewhere.

This review paper focuses on international trade in food and agricultural products and its effects on natural resources and the environment. It takes an empirical stance by primarily surveying the available evidence while theories or models. From time to time, when broadening the perspective can provide readers with a sense of the different mechanisms at play, the paper goes

beyond these self-determined boundaries whose purpose is simply to guarantee a coherent framework and a reference point in an otherwise extremely vast literature.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 reviews the arguments on the positive effects of trade on efficiency by looking at the literature of the "virtual trade" of natural resources such as water, land and biodiversity. Section 3 focuses on the possible negative environmental spillovers of international trade on exporting countries. Section 4 provides an overview of policy-relevant issues and possible measures to maximize the beneficial effects of international flows, while reducing harmful consequences. Finally, section 5 offers some concluding points.

CHAPTER 2

Virtual trade of natural resources

2 Virtual trade of natural resources

International food trade entails the de-coupling of consumption from local production and the availability of domestic resources such as water and land. Because direct water trade is often impractical and land trade is impossible, trade in agricultural goods represents one way to alleviate water and land scarcity by allowing for the international division of labour and for specialization based on resource endowments.

Since the early 1990s, vast literature has blossomed that describes the complex web of "virtual" flows in natural resources associated with international trade in food and agricultural commodities and analyzes their determinants. In fact, this is just the re-branding of an old idea in economics, namely that trade in goods is a substitute for trade in factors of production, since goods contain the factors that are used to produce them (Leontief, 1953; Leamer, 1980). Globally, different estimates (as reported in Chen *et al.*, 2018) put the share of virtual resources embedded in international trade in the range of 20–32 percent in the case of water, and between 24–37 percent for land.

The bulk of research deals with "virtual water", a concept coined by the late geographer Tony Allan (1997; 1998) as a possible solution to water-related conflicts, that has been operationalized and popularized by Arjen Hoekstra and co-authors (Hoekstra and Hung, 2005; Hoekstra and Chapagain, 2008). Within this field, innumerable case studies have investigated the structure, evolution and determinants of virtual water trade (VWT) for specific crops or countries, especially arid or semi-arid zones, which supposedly can reap large benefits from the imports of water-intensive crops (see D'Odorico *et al.*, 2019, for a recent review of the literature). China, for instance, has applied this by often looking at intra-national flows across Chinese regions, with VWT mainly flowing from the water-scarce North to the water-rich South due to the rapid industrial development of coastal regions in the last 20 years. However, less effort has been devoted to virtual land trade, and even less research exists on broader aspects such as biodiversity or environmental services.

2.1 Virtual water trade

Between 70 and 80 percent of world freshwater resources are devoted each year to agricultural production. International food trade allows for population growth to no longer depend on local resources may enhance global efficiency by fostering specialization and overall saving in water, land and other natural resources that are unevenly distributed across the world.

As long as VW flows are unrelated to water scarcity conditions, however, the policy relevance of these findings is limited. Moreover, water savings are not alike: only blue water savings (that is, surface and groundwater) alleviate water stress because green water (which accounts for soil moisture from precipitation) has no alternative uses and therefore cannot be diverted elsewhere.

The literature on water endowments as a determinant of virtual water exports finds mixed results. An early analysis of 131 WVT by Kumar and Singh (2005) find almost no correlation between VWT and water availability. The authors suggest that land plays a greater role in determining net VWT than water does, since access to land implies access to the water available in the soil, and land represents a tighter constraint on agricultural production, so that a number of water-scarce, but land-rich countries may indeed be able to export VW. In fact, there is a strong link between water withdrawal for agricultural uses and cropped area.

These findings are confirmed by a number of subsequent studies such as Fracasso (2014), Fracasso *et al.* (2016), Sartori *et al.* (2017), D'Odorico *et al.* (2019). Duarte *et al.* (2019) noting that land and renewable water are relevant in determining virtual water flows, although their absolute values play a more important role than bilateral relative endowments. This is not surprising as countries' specialization patterns are likely shaped by global or regional comparative advantages, rather than bilateral ones.

Adopting a gravity model augmented with land and water endowments, Fracasso (2014) finds that both natural resources are significantly associated with virtual water exports, while indicators of water stress only correlate with imports.

Studying the case of China, Zhao *et al.* (2019) confirms that water endowments do not explain regional VWT flows, whereas land is much more important as water-scarce but land-rich regions find it more convenient to allocate land to non-agricultural activities. In this context, physical water transfer schemes such as the South-North Water Transfer Project, may represent a solution as they allow agricultural production to take place in land-abundant regions where the opportunity cost of land is low, while at the same time reducing the water stress experienced in those areas. Conversely, Karandish *et al.* (2021) concludes that when analysing the case of Islamic Republic of Iran, indicating that local conditions are crucial.

Debaere (2014) finds that more water abundant countries tend to export more water-intensive products, as predicted by a simple Heckscher-Ohlin framework where factor endowments determine comparative advantages, specialization and trade. Yet, the role of water in determining export patterns is less critical than other traditional factors. While Debaere (2014) finds no significant role for land, his analysis spans to all sectors of the economy, not just agriculture, where land is particularly relevant. Restricting the analysis to the agricultural sector reverses the original findings: land is a significant determinant of exports, whereas water no longer is.

Delbourg and Dinar (2020) use a gravity model to study the determinants of VW flows. They find that relative water endowments and productivity both contribute to shaping food trade patterns, which is in line with both Ricardian and Heckscher-Ohlin theories of international trade, although this is not true for all products. In fact, in some cases, other factors such as land or labour can play a crucial role, or specific climate conditions are necessary and therefore determine the location of crop production. Water productivity matters up to a certain point, and water is often not the biding constraint.

There are several explanations for the lack of a well-defined role for water as a determinant of VWT. First, from a theoretical point of view, a simple Heckscher-Ohlin model focuses on relative factor endowments, whereas most empirical applications use absolute water availability instead (Fracasso, 2014; Wichelns, 2015). Second, differences in endowments should be reflected in different opportunity costs of factors of production and thus in prices. If this is not the case, then no trade would ensue. However, water is seldom priced to reflect scarcity and also land is not always allocated to competing uses based on market prices. While this may be a wise choice, as much as it reflects concerns about conservation of natural resources or fair access to them, it also implies that endowments will not play a crucial role in determining food trade. In fact, Kumar and Singh (2005) suggest that forcing users to pay for water of limiting water usage can induce large improvements both in water efficiency (yield per unit of water) and water productivity

¹ The analysis is possible thanks to the availability of the original dataset used in Debaere (2014). Focusing on the agricultural sector only restricts the sample to just 700 observations, making estimates less precise.

(which has to do with the allocation of water across different crops and types of use). Third, agricultural production depends on a host of complementary factors, so that countries with a lot of water but, say, scarce in land will not be able to export water-intensive crops.

Dalin *et al.* (2017) find that 11 percent of groundwater depletion is embedded in trade, and around two-thirds of it is exported by just three countries, namely India, Pakistan and the US. Because the share of food that is traded is around 18 percent, groundwater depletion rises less than proportionally with trade, suggesting international flows are enhancing efficiency. A similar conclusion is supported by the evidence presented by Rosa *et al.* (2019), noting that between 2000 and 2015 food trade grew by 65 percent, but the share of unsustainable irrigation embedded in agricultural exports increased much less (18 percent), indicating that trade does not necessarily drive water scarcity.

Most of the virtual water literature agrees on the positive effect international trade has on global water use. Liu *et al.* (2018) indicates that estimates of water savings linked to VW trade vary a great deal and different methodologies yield quite different results. In fact, estimates range from 164 billion m3 per year (plus an additional 112 bil m3 of irrigation water depletion, de Fraiture *et al.*, 2004) to 455 bil. m3/year (Oki and Kanae, 2006), while a more recent review of the literature by D'Odorico *et al.* (2019) put water savings in the range of 230–350 bil. m3 per year. The source of the (virtual) gains from trade is driven by productivity differences between importing and exporting countries.

It is however important to distinguish between blue and green water, because only the former has alternative uses and, therefore, an opportunity cost. In fact, 80 percent of global cropland is rainfed (D'Odorico *et al.*, 2019), but irrigated land is twice as productive, and 40 percent of global food is produced with irrigation. Hence, there is a trade-off between land and water use, in addition to the intertemporal tension between current crop yields (enhanced by irrigation) and future sustainability (threatened by groundwater depletion for agricultural use).

Kagohashi *et al.* (2015) investigates the channels through which trade contributes to water saving, and find that while the scale effect puts additional pressure on natural resources, both technological improvements and the composition effect lower water use. Dang and Konar (2018) complement these findings by highlighting that the beneficial effect of trade on water use is limited to the agricultural sector, and suggest the bulk of it comes from the adoption of water saving technology. This is somehow strange given that water is not priced competitively and therefore farmers do not always have incentives to invest in this kind of innovation.

Trade can contribute towards resolving the tension between water saving and cropland expansion. Restrictions to trade will make it harder to meet competing goals by limiting the range of tools that are available. Reducing water usage requires a combination of increase in cropland, more international trade, the intensification of agriculture and a shift toward less water-demanding crops.

Rather than focusing on a single natural resource, Xu et al. (2020) take a more holistic approach and assess the impact of international trade on nine sustainable development goal (SDGs) targets that are related to environmental issues and for which it is possible to build precise quantitative metrics.² The global effect of trade (against a notional no-trade benchmark) over

² These are SDG 6.4 (sustainable water withdrawals and supply); SDG 7.2 (increase the share of renewable energy); SDG 7.3 (energy efficiency); SDG 8.4 (resource efficiency in consumption and production); SDG 9.4 (clean and sustainable industrialization); SDG 12.2 (sustainable management and efficient use of natural resources); SDG 13.2 (integrate climate

the 1995–2009 period is positive, yet unevenly distributed. Advanced countries unambiguously benefit from globalization, whereas developing and emerging economies as a group lose out, although there are improvements in later years. Distant trade is more beneficial than adjacent trade for high-income countries, while it lowers SDG scores for many LDCs, which on the contrary, benefit from trade with close partners.

Dalin and Rodrìguez-Iturbe (2016) review the impact of food trade on the environment, which encompasses water, land, pollution and GHG emissions. One of the key findings is that the impact depends on the location of production, suggesting that trade policy in itself cannot address localized negative spillovers on natural resources generated by agricultural activities.

Virtual water trade is associated with global water saving, with the result driven by trade of wheat, corn and meat. Chinese soy imports are also a large source of water saving, although sourcing from Brazil and South-East Asia favors deforestation.

Although VWT is associated with global water saving, as long as VW flows are unrelated to water scarcity conditions, the policy relevance of these findings is limited. What is more, because not all VW flows entail saving blue water, it is difficult to assess the actual contribution of trade to the conservation of water.

2.2 Virtual land trade

Virtual land trade (VLT) has increased from 128 million hectares (Mha) in 1986 to 350 Mha in 2016, following the globalization of agriculture (Qiang et al., 2020). This notwithstanding, trade accounts for only 24 percent of the total land footprint (Meyfroidt et al., 2013), suggesting that domestic markets still represent the main driver of agricultural and forestry production. Yet, for some products, such as Brazilian oilseeds or Russian timber, the shares are much higher and reach almost 50 percent.

As of 2008, the increased efficiency allowed for trade is estimated to have reduced cropland demand by almost 90 Mha per annum, relative to a notional scenario where each country produced domestically the food it consumes (Kastner *et al.*, 2014a). Infante-Amate *et al.* (2018) and Roux *et al.* (2021) quote evidence from Kastner *et al.* (2012) to argue that, at a global level, a notional autarky scenario would require an increase in the land dedicated to agriculture of around 8 percent.

One issue with the literature on virtual land trade is that findings are sensitive to the data and methodology used (Kastner *et al.*, 2014b; Schaffartzik *et al.*, 2015). Top-down analyses using multi-regional input-output tables that start from monetary values and convert them into land use, are not considered very reliable. At the same time, no well-defined methods exist to compute the land footprint of crop production.

The globalization of food trade results in an increasingly complex network of VLT flows where both the number of trade partners and the size of each bilateral relationship have grown. VL exports are much more concentrated than imports, with a stable group of major exporters (Argentina, Canada, Australia, and the United States of America), recently joined by Brazil,

Russia Federation and Ukraine, featuring large land endowments. On the other hand, almost all virtual land importers have a per capita land endowment that is below the world average.

Infante-Amate *et al.* (2018) review the Spanish case by looking at historical data spanning the 20th century. The evidence shows a widening gap between the cropland embedded in consumption and the actual land dedicated to agricultural production in Spain, which testifies for a structural transformation of the economy, made possible by an increase in productivity and crop yields, and also for increasing reliance on international trade. Virtual land import is estimated to save around 6.4 Mha of land every year, corresponding to a striking 36.8 percent of Spanish cropland. Of course, increased efficiency may well create environmental damages depending on where and under which conditions it takes place.

Roux et al. (2021) examine whether international trade manages to reduce human pressure on the environment by improving the mix of origin, i.e., the sourcing patterns behind human consumption. Rather than looking at the hectares of land embedded in agricultural products, they propose an alternative metric, namely the Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production (HANPP). This sums the change in biomass productivity due to land use change and the biomass removed during harvest. The advantage of such an indicator is that it reflects the extent of land use, and its intensity. However, the authors point out that an increase in HANPP is not necessarily problematic, as similar values would have different implications depending on whether they result from deforestation, or the conversion of grassland. The paper finds that virtual HANPP was flat during 1986–1999 and trended upward afterward. Moreover, sourcing patterns do not always contribute to reducing environmental pressures. In particular, after 1999, the evolution of trade worsened the mix of origin effect so that by 2011 the sourcing patterns of the global food systems is less efficient than it was in 1986. Most of this negative effect comes from the rapid increase in agricultural exports from South America and South Asia, but also derives from rising food demand in Sub-Saharan Africa which is met by inefficient domestic production.

Hertel *et al.* (2020) estimate that greater integration by African countries in world markets would result in less cropland being required in that region by 2050, with technology transfers improving agricultural productivity playing the most important role. Hence, increasing pressures on natural resources can come either from "too much" or "too little" market integration, highlighting that international trade is a tool rather than a deep determinant of environmental harm *per se.* All in all, the analysis presented in Roux *et al.* (2021) suggests that the mix of origin effect has played a rather small role in driving the evolution of HANPP over the last 30 years or so, much smaller than changes in population, agricultural intensity, and per-capita consumption patterns.

2.3 Virtual emissions and pollution

A number of studies have extended the analysis of virtual flows to pollution. Especially relevant for agricultural trade is the virtual flow of nitrogen (N), an important pollutant found in many fertilizers. Huang *et al.* (2019) find that Chinese imports reduce environmental degradation associated with nitrogen pollution by shifting agricultural production to places with higher soil fertility and, consequently, requiring less fertilizer use. In fact, products for which China is a net importer have lower nitrogen yield than the world average, whereas the opposite holds in the case of crops for which China is self-sufficient (such as rice), suggesting that –at least in the case of nitrogen– the pattern of specialization driven by comparative advantages fosters efficiency and reduces environmental harm.

Of course, access to imports could increase (domestic) pollution if it leads to conversion toward crops that are more nitrogen intensive (as would be the case for a shift from soybean to rice in China, see Sun *et al.*, 2018). This reasoning can be easily generalized to all natural resources and environmental pressures: the impact on each of them ultimately depends on local (i.e., production-related) conditions.

2.4 Discussion

The leading exporters of virtual water are India, China, Pakistan, and the United States of America. However, some authors such as, (Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2020) add Islamic Republic of Iran and Indonesia (Chen *et al.*, 2018). Virtual land exporters are Argentina, Canada, the United States of America, Australia, and Brazil (Chen *et al.*, 2018). This pattern of specialization resonates well with the prediction of trade theory, whereby market integration leads to the concentration of production in countries where the opportunity costs of inputs and factors of production are lower. As a result, the virtual export of natural resources, being water or land, is very concentrated, suggesting that just a few countries have increasingly specialized in the provision of agricultural products to world markets. While most economists would consider this fact a simple outcome of the theory of comparative advantages, in the natural science and ecology literature, this is viewed as evidence of the presence of structural imbalances in world trade, and it represents a major source of concern.

The second piece of circumstantial evidence brought against trade concerns is increasing groundwater depletion. Almost 50 percent of the world's population lives in places where aquifers are overexploited, with the main driver being crop irrigation, which accounts for 70 percent of groundwater use (Pastor *et al.*, 2019). In fact, almost 40 percent of the food comes from irrigated land, 30 percent of which is unsustainable (Pastor *et al.*, 2019). Yet, a water-centric approach that associates trade with the globalization of pollution and the externalization of water use (see, for instance, O'Bannon *et al.*, 2014) is partly misleading, as water is often not the main driving force behind trade flows. Moreover, as forcefully noted by Wichelns (2015), there is no clear counterfactual against which one can assess the current level of market integration. What happens if trade suddenly halts, and each country produces domestically everything it needs? Besides being simply unfeasible for many countries, a notional scenario in which international flows are banned would not reduce the material footprint of the food system by the amount usually attributed to trade, but rather change the location of production in ways that may well increase pressure on natural resources.

Despite the overall water saving associated with international trade (Hoekstra and Chapagain, 2008; Dalin and Rodrìguez-Iturbe, 2016), Dalin *et al.* (2017) note that efficiency and sustainability do not always go hand-in-hand: soybean imports in China are water and land efficient but contribute to unsustainable water depletion in the United States of America and is associated with biodiversity loss and deforestation in Asia and Brazil. Hence, there are possible trade-offs among competing environmental objectives. Moreover, domestic production is often not a viable alternative or, at least, not one that would reduce the impact on natural resources.

Higher crop yields, which are instrumental in lowering the environmental pressure of the food system, are associated with higher pollution from fertilizer use and the intensification of agriculture. The trade-off between competing claims is very evident in this respect, and research on the subject is inconclusive (Dalin and Rodrìguez-Iturbe 2016). A similar claim is advanced by Liu *et al.* (2018) in the context of virtual water flows, noting that very little is known about gray water, which is linked to environmental damage and pollution.

One explanation for the lack of a prominent role for trade in promoting efficiency is the well-known fact that the marginal cost of water and land does not reflect environmental costs so negative externalities can occur and land-rich countries with large, unprotected areas are likely to supply a lot of land-intensive products. Moreover, agricultural production embeds a host of complementary inputs, not just land (or water, or fertilizer), and there are possible trade-offs across different natural resources, whose binding role will depend on local conditions.

As mentioned in the Introduction, international trade can play an important role in adapting to climate change. Market integration allows the diversification of sourcing patterns, making the food system more resilient to weather shocks, the adverse effect of rising temperatures on agricultural production, or increased water scarcity and soil degradation.

A last indirect channel through which trade can positively affect the conservation of natural resources is via its impact on income. As long as environmental protection is a normal good (and even if it behaves like a luxury good), rising incomes generate pressure for more stringent policies, and trade openness can have a beneficial effect on the environment (Copeland *et al.*, 2021). Because this mechanism is not directly related to trade in agricultural commodities, it cannot be developed further.

CHAPTER 3

Negative environmental impacts of trade

3 Negative environmental impacts of trade

Agricultural production is a key driver of resource use and environmental pressure, and it can lead to unsustainable water withdrawals, water and soil pollution, deforestation, and degradation of natural habitats (Foley *et al.*, 2005). Because market integration creates incentives to expand crop production in some countries, a number of scholars (Lenzen *et al.*, 2012; Wiedmann and Lenzen, 2018; Rosa *et al.*, 2019) postulate a link between international trade and environmental degradation (Baylis *et al.*, 2021), although direct evidence about a causal relationship between trade and environmental damage remains limited.

Advocates of consumption-based accounting (aka footprints, see, for instance, Wiedmann and Lenzen, 2018) stress the need to hold consumers more accountable for their choices and suggest importing countries are responsible for the depletion of natural capital experienced by producing countries. Besides the difficulty of allocating the costs and benefits of food production across consumers and producers, a further complication stems from the fact that footprints cannot inform policymakers of the consequences of trade restrictions so long as it does not incorporate precise information on local conditions.

This Section reviews the main arguments on the negative consequences of food trade, following the tripartite structure used in Section 2 and looking at water, land, and emissions.

In addition to possible detrimental effects on specific natural resources, which can be traced down to the presence of externalities due to poorly defined property rights, there are two general concerns put forward in the natural sciences literature. The first question is whether trade can improve resource efficiency, and the second is whether the global food system is more prone to shocks.

According to Wiedmann and Lenzen (2018), over the last 30–40 years, the globalization of agriculture has not led to a significant reduction in the material footprint of advanced countries, once their domestic and external footprints are lumped together. As such, trade would affect the location of production without contributing to improving efficiency. Similarly, Wood *et al.* (2018) note that over time the per-capita environmental footprint of humanity has increased, although their analysis is not confined to agricultural trade. The lack of a well-defined counterfactual against which it is possible to gauge the role of trade and other drivers of environmental pressure somewhat weakens the argument.

The observation that many advanced countries have an external footprint larger than their domestic one is often considered a sign of malaise and evidence of the pernicious effects of trade on the environment. For instance, Lenzen *et al.* (2012) claim that "30 percent of global species threats are due to international trade". The loss of biodiversity and natural habitats are critical issues and are often driven by land use changes and deforestation, which, in turn, respond to economic incentives and market failures (there are no property rights for biodiversity, so that its loss is not internalized by markets and there are negative spillover effects). Yet, trade restrictions would not, for instance, curb domestic consumption, which often represents the largest share of food demand in any given country.

Contrary to the notion that trade can act as a useful adaptation strategy to cope with climate change, some scholars express concerns about the vulnerability of a global food system that relies on unsustainable practices (e.g., Dalin *et al.*, 2017). The working hypothesis is that by decoupling consumption from production, countries become less aware of and more vulnerable to

climate-related shocks and/or the depletion of natural resources. For this effect to be relevant, one needs to make several assumptions.

The first is that the presence of a border blurs perceptions about the environmental footprint of the food system, above and beyond the separation between agricultural production and food consumption that is present even within countries, making consumers less aware of the effects of their choices.

Second, markets must not convey proper signals on natural resource scarcity, so that resource depletion does not lead to higher prices that would stimulate resource-saving investment. This is, unfortunately, not far from reality in many countries. Chang *et al.* (2016) emphasize that ecosystem services are not priced and therefore subject to true externalities, and it is well known that irrigation prices seldom reflect scarcity. As a result, too many resources are used for human activities, undermining long-term sustainability.

Third, if a negative shock hits an exporting country, it must be more troublesome to replace imports than to compensate for a shortfall in domestic production. In this respect, there is little evidence that imports are inherently riskier than domestic production, unless the benchmark is a crisis situation in which a government may be able to commandeer crop distribution and/or impose price controls. Sartori and Schiavo (2015) find that the global food system has not become inherently more vulnerable or unstable despite its complexity has increased substantially in the past decades. However, unfettered markets may be more volatile, especially if there are low reserve stocks (Marchand *et al.*, 2016) and specific measures to guarantee food access and affordability are necessary for some contexts (although this is not related to environmental issues).

Of course, incomplete markets and uneven rules on the exploitation of natural resources imply that the globalization of agriculture may increase the environmental footprint if it leads to the relocation of production to countries with laxer standards (the pollution haven hypothesis) or weaker governance of natural resources.

3.1 Water stress

Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2020) focus on the blue water footprint of food, which comprises surface water and groundwater, highlighting the risks associated with unsustainable water practices. In fact, more than 50 percent of the blue water footprint comes from places where the environmental flow requirements (the amount of freshwater necessary to sustain aquatic ecosystems and, as a result, support sustainable livelihoods) are not respected.

Agriculture accounts for 70 percent of water withdrawals, reaching higher shares in Africa and Asia and food production is responsible for 96 percent of the infringements, with a growing share being outside the country of final consumption and two-thirds of the total footprint located in just five countries (China, India, Islamic Republic of Iran, Pakistan and the United States of America). Moreover, a small number of internationally traded crops (cotton, rice, wheat, sugarcane and soybean) account for around two-thirds of unsustainable virtual water flows (Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2020).

According to D'Odorico *et al.* (2019), excessive water extraction accounts for roughly 20 percent of irrigation, and the overuse of groundwater represents a serious challenge in some countries and areas, including rich parts of the world such as the United States of America.

Food consumption that relies on these sources is therefore at risk in the medium-long-run, and this is true irrespective of whether final consumers are located a short distance from where crops are grown or thousands of kilometers away.

Shifting the burden of resource use to other countries may reduce the perception of water scarcity and thus postpone a reckoning that may be necessary. Yet, the focus on water as the main bottleneck to food production provides policymakers with only a partial and somehow distorted perspective. Food is produced by a bundle of inputs whose use is determined by their opportunity cost. In fact, D'Odorico *et al.* (2019) recognize that trade is not driven by water needs, while Wiedmann and Lenzen (2018) concur that income is the most important driver of virtual water trade.

Dalin and Rodrìguez-Iturbe (2016) notice that water productivity does not amount to sustainability, so virtual water trade may increase efficiency, while simultaneously putting additional pressure on scarce water resources. Along the same lines, Wichelns (2015) stresses that concepts like virtual water or water footprint are of limited policy relevance because they do not account for the opportunity cost of water and for local conditions, which are critical to assessing the merit of alternative water uses.

3.2 Land use change, deforestation and biodiversity loss

In the last 30 years, the world has lost approximately 178 Mha of forest area (FAO, 2020). Land appropriation by agricultural production not only exerts a negative effect on the environment by contributing to GHG emissions and reducing carbon storage, but also because deforestation is associated with biodiversity loss and environmental degradation. For instance, Green *et al.* (2019) find significant species losses driven by land conversion and appropriation by agriculture in the Brazilian cerrado, while Ortiz *et al.* (2021) highlight that biodiversity is 40 percent lower in cropland relative to areas covered by primary vegetation. This, in turn, triggers a feedback loop as the loss of biodiversity negatively affects agriculture by reducing ecosystem services such as pollination and environmental resistance. Chang *et al.* (2016) emphasize that ecosystem services are not priced and therefore subject to true externalities. As a result, too much land ends up being used for human activities.

Although the domestic market is often responsible for the largest share of impact than any foreign country, even in export-oriented agricultural systems such as Brazil (Green *et al.*, 2019), new market opportunities created by trade liberalization may increase the incentive for agricultural expansion and land appropriation, with negative effects on deforestation and the preservation of natural habitats (Dalin and Rodrìguez-Iturbe, 2016). Hence, while the expansion of cropland in areas previously not dedicated to agriculture can enhance efficiency, it may also threaten fragile environments and generate global spillovers (an increase in GHG emissions from deforestation would feed a vicious circle by hastening climate change and leading to further environmental degradation elsewhere). This is especially the case when land governance is weak, either because of ill-defined property rights or prioritization of agricultural production over conservation (Torres *et al.*, 2017). In fact, uncertainties about the impact of trade on deforestation have become a major stumbling block in the ratification of the EU-Mercosur trade agreement (Abman *et al.*, 2021), although evidence of a direct link between trade and biodiversity loss remains limited.

In an early contribution that aims at determining the causal effect of trade on the environment, Frankel and Rose (2005) find little evidence that openness has any significant adverse effect on

deforestation (or pollution), controlling for income or other relevant factors. ³ One of the few examples where a trade shock has had a direct and sizable impact on species conservation is a study by Taylor (2011), using historical information to draw a causal link between the surge in demand for leather triggered by a British industrial innovation and the collapse in the buffalo population in North America in the late 19th century. Similarly, Eisenbarth (2018) finds that demand shocks that increase exports can explain the depletion of fisheries around the world. These works suggest that a surge in foreign demand may determine the over-exploitation of poorly-regulated natural resources. However, Ortiz *et al.* (2021) make clear that a more local food system *per se* is unlikely to be beneficial to biodiversity, mainly because the use of more suitable locations to grow food (as induced by comparative advantages), reduces the required amount of inputs such as land, water and fertilizers.

Chen *et al.* (2018) emphasize that the impact of food production depends heavily on local conditions, and even in a critical context such as Brazil, Green *et al.* (2019) find that the production of soy for exports has a very different environmental footprint depending on regional agricultural practices. In general, unless appropriate measures to protect natural habitats are put in place in producing countries—which help farmers integrate the trade-off between short term supply considerations versus longer-term sustainability issues—reducing international trade does not guarantee that food production takes place where environmental pressures are minimal.

A further channel through which the international flow of goods can affect biodiversity is the spread of invasive alien species (Westphal *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, it is not the type of trade that matters, such as the share of agricultural imports over total trade, but rather the sheer amount of international transactions.

3.3 Greenhouse gas emissions and climate change

West *et al.* (2010) estimate that deforestation and conversion to cropland contribute between 12–20 percent of global emissions yearly. While not all the increased production is destined for international markets, in some areas (e.g., Brazil and Indonesia) and for some crops (soybeans and palm oil), the opportunities generated by market integration rank high among the determinants of land use change. When combined, food accounts for roughly 30-35 percent of GHG emissions (Poore and Nemecek, 2018; Crippa *et al.*, 2021), with strong heterogeneity across both products and countries. Consequently, the location of agricultural activities matters a great deal. In fact, the environmental impact of food production can vary 50-fold among producers of the same good, even in similar geographic regions, with trade-offs between emissions and usage of natural resources. For instance, aquaculture saves on land, but generates far more GHG emissions than vegetable proteins, whose production is more land intensive.

Differences in agricultural practices, and the different effects that even the best practices have in different regions, imply that specialization and international trade may not always lead to more efficient use of natural resources or a reduced environmental impact (even if one abstracts from transport-related emissions and pollution). Intensive systems, an outcome of specialization, have a lower per unit impact, although the overall pressure they put on local ecosystems is stronger and could be unsustainable in some cases. If current resource scarcity

³ Frankel and Rose (2005) find no evidence that trade increases air pollution; on the contrary they report a causal link between trade openness and lower concentrations of sulphur dioxide in the air when looking at a group of 40 countries in the early 1990s.

and considerations about stock depletion are not factored into prices, then efficiency and sustainability may not proceed in parallel, and trade-offs may emerge.

Significant cross-country differences in GHG emissions suggest that the relocation of agricultural production triggered by trade integration can substantially impact the food system's carbon footprint, and this heterogeneity has important implications on the net effects of the local versus global sourcing of food. While the consumption of domestically-produced food seems an obvious way to reduce a country's carbon footprint, once differences in production practices and emissions are combined, the picture is far less clear. In fact, the GHG emissions due to the transport of traded goods are the most evident (and global) negative externality directly linked to trade, but their magnitude is small. While the direct emissions from transport are relatively small, in some cases they more than offset the gains due to higher agricultural productivity (Cristea *et al.*, 2013). Avetisyan *et al.* (2014) find that, for some food items, in particular those of animal origin, the fall in transport-related emissions are dwarfed by the increase that would take place if all countries were to re-shore their agricultural production. In fact, domestic emissions dominate the contribution of the food system to global emissions in about 90 percent of the country-product pairs they examine.

The relatively small effect of transportation and shipping is consistent with results from more general works that do not focus on agricultural goods. Cristea *et al.* (2013) and Shapiro (2016) both find that a shift from autarky to free trade "only" increases overall CO2 emissions by 3–5 percent, although there are very large differences across industries and trading partners. Maritime shipping in bulk carriers tend to be more fuel efficient than other means of transportation lowering the overall impact of some product-country-pair combinations.

The world has witnessed a decoupling of population growth and food-related emissions, with the latter growing more slowly than the population in the last 40 years. This, together with a reduction in CO2 intensity and CO2 per capita emissions over time, in a period of rapid expansion of international trade, is consistent with the notion of specialization lowering the environmental impact of the food system at a global level, even if Crippa *et al.* (2021) find a number of specific countries where the trend is reversed. Production, land use, and land use change are responsible for the bulk of the GHG emissions associated with the food systems, and account for more than 70 percent of the total. Amid later (beyond the farm gate) stages, distribution is less relevant than packaging, with "food miles" accounting for less than 5 percent of GHG emissions and the bulk of it due to local or regional road transport rather than international shipping. Of course, there is large heterogeneity, with some specific products, such as bananas and sugar cane, for which transport accounts for 40 percent of the total carbon footprint.

West *et al.* (2010) highlight the tension between the need to increase food production and the role of forests as carbon sinks; the trade-off is particularly adverse in tropical areas, which feature lower agricultural yields (up to -50 percent) and higher carbon storage potential (up to +100percent) with respect to temperate zones. Conservation and reforestation of the tropics is only possible if more trade is allowed, as the amount of food that is needed will not diminish simply by imposing export restrictions.

⁴ The opposite holds for arid regions, where low vegetation implies low carbon storage. In these areas, on the other hand, increased agricultural production would put additional pressure on possibly scarce water resources.

CHAPTER 4

Policy implications

4 Policy implications

Despite the complexities that link agricultural trade and natural resources, there are at least two broad lessons can be drawn from the discussion. The first is that unless appropriate measures to protect natural habitats are in place at the production stage, trade restrictions do not guarantee that food production takes place where environmental pressures are minimal. Second, the need to recognize trade-offs and tensions among competing environmental claims and realize that actions aimed at mitigating pressure on a specific resource, like water, may well exacerbate tensions in other dimensions of the ecosystem. Vos *et al.* (2019) find that competing perspectives on water use, although this can be easily generalized to natural resources, do not account for existing trade-offs among water and land-use, blue and gray water, short-term productivity, and long-term sustainability, and so on. This, together with the lack of well-defined counterfactuals limits the policy relevance of many of the works that address the relationship between agricultural trade and natural resources.

Still, it is possible to distill some relevant policy implications or at least dispel some common misconceptions.

4.1 Trade policy

From a theoretical point of view, trade policy remains a second-best (that is, sub-optimal) solution, because tariffs and non-tariff barriers to trade do not address the source of externalities and cannot target domestic consumption.

Ideally, one would like a system of free trade –so that comparative advantages can allocate crop productions where natural resources have the lowest opportunity costs and are used most efficiently– combined with local conservation measures to ensure the protection of fragile environments and the elimination of negative externalities.

Abman *et al.* (2021) find that regional trade agreements with specific provisions aimed at limiting deforestation and biodiversity loss are an effective tool to limit the negative effects trade can have on the environment. This effect mainly works through a reduction in land use change following trade liberalization. However, the global impact of such measures is unclear, as deforestation could simply shift to areas or countries not covered by such provisions. Hence, multilateral coordination should be preferred to a host of overlaying bilateral or regional agreements.

Coordinated trade policy can be used to achieve environmental effects in other countries, by forcing upon them part of the costs of protection. The idea behind the notion of climate clubs (Nordhaus, 2015) informs the carbon border adjustment mechanism recently proposed by the European Union as part of its strategy to counter climate change. Global coordination is key as even relatively large countries or "clubs" may achieve little on their own (Copeland *et al.*, 2021).

For trade to properly allocate production where resources are more efficiently used, subsidies that prop up specific crops or sectors should be eliminated. Not only do they reduce efficiency and distort the allocation of resources across countries and sectors, but they can have adverse environmental effects. For instance, cotton production, which absorbs 33 percent of unsustainable irrigation (Rosa *et al.*, 2019), is heavily subsidized in the United States of America and prominently

⁵ Grey water represents the amount of freshwater required to assimilate a load of pollutants based on natural background concentrations and existing quality standards.

among American exports.

Along the same lines, production externalities can be reduced by combining local conservation measures and adequate pricing of natural resources, reflecting the scarcity and intertemporal sustainability considerations. Kumar and Singh (2005) highlight that charging a price for (blue) water used in irrigation or setting quantity limits can be effective to increase water efficiency.

4.2 Global vs. local governance

Effects of agricultural production on natural resources are eminently local and therefore best dealt with at the local level. Because most of the negative effects of the food system occur at the production stage, where the final consumers are located is immaterial to environmental conservation.

Hoekstra (2011) has been a vocal advocate of global water governance, suggesting that as virtual water transfers shift environmental pressures beyond national borders, global factors such as climate change affect local conditions, and multinational corporations play an increasing role, the world is slowly moving toward the privatization of water. The counterargument is the subsidiarity principle, whereby any issue should be addressed at the lowest possible level of governance in order to guarantee solutions that are tailored to specific local needs and conditions. The main question then becomes whether it is possible to solve issues related to the unsustainable use of natural resources at a level that is lower than global or, in other words, whether the globalization of agriculture necessarily calls for global solutions?

In fact, global externalities are very few. Deforestation, with the associated GHG emissions, is the foremost example because the effects of climate change may well occur very far away from where GHGs have been released into the atmosphere. Moreover, emissions can feed a vicious circle since they hasten climate change and thus lead to further environmental issues. The loss of biodiversity and ecosystem services is another channel through which deforestation can have global negative effects by increasing the opportunity for animal-human interactions and thus facilitating the transmission of zoonotic diseases (Johnson *et al.*, 2020).

On the other hand, environmental degradation or increasing pressure on water resources are not inherently global. Because environmental impacts heavily depend on local conditions, policy interventions should be tailor-made to the specific context and a one-size-fits-all approach is misguided.

The limited policy guidance offered by the concept of virtual water is stressed by Gawel and Bernsen (2013) and Wichelns (2015). These scholars emphasize that a large water footprint may not be problematic under some conditions and comparing WFs across countries is pointless unless we have precise information on production sites and on the opportunity cost of water. Wichelns (2015) stresses that the savings associated with VW trade is only notional and that efficiency and abundance cannot be combined. Sharp cross-country differences in water footprints do not, by themselves, make water scarcity a global issue. Water saving in Europe (a large sink of virtual resources) does not have beneficial effects in arid or semi-arid regions of Africa. Nor does a ban on trade in water-intensive goods necessarily benefit water-scarce regions, as water is often not the main constraint to agricultural production in food-importing countries.

On the other hand, local issues may become international under some circumstances. If water deficits or environmental degradation led to migration (Borgomeo *et al.*, 2021), it makes sense to tackle the issue at the international or regional level. In this case though, restricting trade is likely to exacerbate problems, as areas featuring severe water scarcity can benefit from access to food produced elsewhere.

One argument in favor of global, or at least internationally coordinated, policies is the possibility that national conservation efforts have unintended consequences in third countries. In this case, the problem is not that action by a single country would not be enough to solve a problem, or that there might be a problem of free-riding. Rather, the argument is similar to the "pollution heaven" hypothesis, whereby the combination of stringent domestic regulation plus international trade shifts the environmental burden onto other countries where agricultural practices have a larger footprint, thus making the world worse off. This phenomenon is labeled the "illusion of preservation" by Berlik *et al.* (2002).

4.3 Suggestions

One of the main challenges facing humanity is to increase food production to match the population growth, while lowering the associated environmental pressure.

Access to advanced technology and innovation, which can be facilitated by international trade, will play an important role in helping developing countries, where the agricultural sector plays a larger role, promote intensification and resource efficiency while limiting adverse, local and global, effects on the planet.

Along with technical change to reduce the amount of natural resources needed to produce a given amount of food, policies that nudge people toward diets with a lower environmental footprint can also limit the over-exploitation of natural resources. Roux *et al.* (2021) estimate that 19 percent of the global harvested biomass is used for food, while 71 percent feeds livestock. As such, dietary changes that steer consumption away from animal-based products have the potential to lower the impact of the food system.

The heterogeneity in the impact of different policy measures and agricultural practices, together with a lack of clear-cut evidence on the relationship between agricultural productivity and pollution (Copeland *et al.*, 2021) suggest policy experimentation will be crucial to develop a set of effective tools to reconcile increasing food demand with the need to protect the environment.

One of such areas of interventions concerns schemes offering payments for environmental or ecosystem services, which have been attracting attention and resources from both public and private donors. However, evidence on their actual effects is still limited and somehow controversial (Miteva et al., 2012). One problem is that these instruments often are assigned multiple objectives ranging from environmental protection to local development. Moreover, results seem to depend on local conditions, most notably enforcement and the presence of comprehensive conservation and development strategies (Costedoat et al., 2015). Direct support to farmers engaging in environmental protection to compensate for foregone revenues or increasing costs stemming for environment-friendly agricultural practices can help lower the tension between income support and conservation, but more evidence on the effectiveness of such schemes is needed (see Jayachandran et al., 2017, for a pilot study in Uganda, which has delivered positive results).

Non-state market-driven (NSMD) governance, such as certification schemes or labeling, have also become increasingly popular. The assumption is that by increasing consumers' awareness of the environmental, or social footprint of specific products (timber, cocoa, palm oil, to cite a few) it may be possible for "certified" crops to command a premium price, thus rewarding lower yields and environmental protection. Yet, the actual effectiveness of such schemes is disputed both in the general press (Whoriskey, 2019) and by scholarly research (Kroeger et al., 2017). On the one hand, issues such as mismanagement, weak monitoring, capture, corruption and even fraud have emerged as critical limitations. On the other hand, scientific research on the topic is still scant. Kroeger et al. (2017) find that deforestation continues despite NSMD rules aimed at prohibiting the conversion of forested land to agriculture, and this appears to hold for different institutional settings (Brazil, Indonesia, Côte d'Ivoire) and crops (soy, palm oil, cocoa). Studying soy production in the Brazilian cerrado, Green et al. (2019) find that certifications are not always effective in preventing biodiversity losses in vulnerable areas. Responsibility for this outcome lies mainly with a lack of market uptake so the premium received by farmers for sustainable agricultural practices is too small (van der Ven et al., 2018). Chang et al. (2016) estimate that a five percent increase in the price of Indonesian palm oil would be enough to internalize the value of lost ecosystem services driven by forest conversion and appropriation by agriculture, but the current premium fetched by certified palm oil is just one percent. Moreover, the existence of regulatory loopholes and the fragmentation of environmental governance also represent a problem. van der Ven et al. (2018) stress how cocoa and palm oil production rests on a large number of smallholder farmers, who lack the financial and technical capacity to implement necessary reforms. On the other hand, the presence of multiple certification schemes with different criteria and standards creates sourcing problems for large cocoa traders who control a large fraction of the market and would be in the position to steer the sector toward more sustainable practices.

CHAPTER 5

Conclusions

5 Conclusions

Agricultural trade can enhance global efficiency in the use of natural resources. At the same time, it may exacerbate the negative effects of externalities in contexts marked by weak governance. Moreover, efficiency and sustainability cannot go hand-in-hand. Local policy measures are needed to account for this trade-off, as well as to account for possible negative externalities that lead to the over-exploitation of the environment.

Trade restrictions are the second-best solution as they do not affect domestic demand and do not address the source of externalities. Moreover, global coordination is necessary to avoid bilateral or regional agreements simply displacing environmental damage to areas that enjoy a lower degree of protection.

Yet, trade is not "unfair" or problematic merely because it allows countries to consume more than could be domestically produced. While such an argument clashes with the very notion of gains from trade, the notional scenario in which each country produces domestically all the food that it needs is simply unfeasible. Moreover, trade restrictions do not guarantee that crops are grown where natural resources are more efficiently used and are likely to increase the global pressure the food system puts on the environment.



- **Abman, R., Lundberg, C. Ruta, M.** 2021. The Effectiveness of Environmental Provisions in Regional Trade Agreements. Policy Research Working Paper 9601. World Bank.
- **Allan, J.** 1998. Virtual water: A strategic resource global solutions to regional deficits. Ground Water 36, 545–546. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6584.1998.tb02825.x.
- **Allan, J.A.** 1997. 'Virtual water': a long term solution for water short Middle Eastern economies? Occasional Paper Water Issues Study Group 3. School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London.
- **Avetisyan, M. Hertel, T., Sampson, G.** 2014. Is local food more environmentally friendly? the GHG emissions impacts of consuming imported versus domestically produced food. Environmental and Resource Economics 58, 415–462. doi:10.1007/s10640-013-9706-3.
- **Baylis, K., Heckelei, T., Hertel, T.W.** 2021. Agricultural trade and environmental sustainability. AnnualReviewofResourceEconomics13,379–401.doi:10.1146/annurev-resource-101420-090453.
- **Berlik, M., Kittredge, D., Foster, D.** 2002. The illusion of preservation: A global environmental argument for the local production of natural resources. Journal of Biogeography 29, 1557–1568. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2699.2002.00768.x.
- **Borgomeo, E., J¨agerskog, A., Zaveri, E., Russ, J., Khan, A., Damania, R.** 2021. Ebb and Flow: Water, Migration, and Development. volume 1. World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Chang, J., Symes, W.S., Lim, F., Carrasco, L.R. 2016. International trade causes large net economic losses in tropical countries via the destruction of ecosystem services. Ambio 45, 387–397. doi:10.1007/s13280-016-0768-7.
- Chen, B., Han, M., Peng, K., Zhou, S., Shao, L., Wu, X., Wei, W., Liu, S., Li, Z., Li, J., Chen, G. 2018. Global land-water nexus: Agricultural land and freshwater use embodied in worldwide supply chains. Science of the Total Environment 613-614, 931–943.
- **Copeland, B.R., Shapiro, J.S., Taylor, M.S.** 2021. Globalization and the Environment. Working Paper 28797. National Bureau of Economic Research. doi:10.3386/w28797.
- Costedoat, S., Corbera, E., Ezzine-de Blas, D., Honey-Ros´es, J., Baylis, K., Castillo-Santiago, M.A. 2015. How effective are biodiversity conservation payments in Mexico? PLOS ONE 10, 1–20. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0119881.
- **Crippa, M., Solazzo, E., Guizzardi, D., Monforti-Ferrario, F., Tubiello, F.N., Leip, A.** 2021. Food systems are responsible for a third of global anthropogenic GHG emissions. Nature Food 2, 198–209. doi:10.1038/s43016-021-00225-9.
- **Cristea, A., Hummels, D., Puzzello, L., Avetisyan, M.** 2013. Trade and the greenhouse gas emissions from international freight transport. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 65, 153–173.
- **Dalin, C., Rodrìguez-Iturbe, I.** 2016. Environmental impacts of food trade via resource use and greenhouse gas emissions. Environmental Research Letters 11, 035012. <u>doi:10.1088/</u> 1748-9326/11/3/035012.
- **Dalin, C., Wada, Y., Kastner, T., Puma, M.J.** 2017. Groundwater depletion embedded in international food trade. Nature 543, 700–704. doi:10.1038/nature21403.
- **Dang, Q., & Konar, M.** 2018. Trade openness and domestic water use. Water Resources Research 54, 4–18. doi:10.1002/2017WR021102.

- **Debaere**, **P.** 2014. The global economics of water: Is water a source of comparative advantage? American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 6, 32–48. doi:10.1257/app.6.2.32.
- **Delbourg, E., Dinar, S.** 2020. The globalization of virtual water flows: Explaining trade patterns of a scarce resource. World Development 131.
- D'Odorico, P., Carr, J., Dalin, C., Dell'Angelo, J., Konar, M., Laio, F., Ridolfi, L., Rosa, L., Suweis, S., Tamea, S., Tuninetti, M. 2019. Global virtual water trade and the hydrological cycle: Patterns, drivers, and socio-environmental impacts. Environmental Research Letters 14, 053001. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/ab05f4.
- **Dombi, M., Szak'aly, Z., Kiss, V.A., Cao, Z., Liu, G.** 2021. Material hide-and-seek: Looking for the resource savings due to international trade of food products. Earth's Future 9, e2020EF001861. doi:10.1029/2020EF001861.
- **Duarte, R., Pinilla, V., Serrano, A.** 2019. Long term drivers of global virtual water trade: A trade gravity approach for 1965-2010. Ecological Economics 156, 318–326. <u>doi:10.1016/j.</u> ecolecon.2018.10.012.
- **Eisenbarth, S.** 2018. Do exports of renewable resources lead to resource depletion? evidence on fisheries. Mimeo.
- **Ejrnæs, M., Persson, K.G., Rich, S.** 2008. Feeding the British: Convergence and Market Efficiency in the Nineteenth-Century Grain Trade. The Economic History Review 61, 140–171.
- **FAO.** 2020. Global forest resources assessment 2020: Main report. Rome. doi:10.4060/ca9825en.
- Foley, J.A., DeFries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe, M.T., Daily, G.C., Gibbs, H.K., Helkowski, J.H., Holloway, T., Howard, E.A., Kucharik, C.J., Monfreda, C., Patz, J.A., Prentice, I.C., Ramankutty, N., Snyder, P.K. 2005. Global consequences of land use. Science 309, 570–574. doi:10.1126/science.1111772.
- **Fracasso, A.** 2014. A gravity model of virtual water trade. Ecological Economics 108, 215–228. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.10.010
- **Fracasso, A., Sartori, M., Schiavo, S.** 2016. Determinants of virtual water flows in the Mediterranean. Science of the Total Environment 543, 1054–1062. <u>doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.</u> 2015.02.059.
- **Fracasso, A. and Vittucci Marzetti, G.** 2015. International trade and R&D spillovers, Journal of International Economics, 96, 138-149. doi:10.1016/j.jinteco.2015.01.010.
- **de Fraiture, C., Cai, X., Amarasinghe, U., Rosegrant, M., Molden, D.** 2004. Does international cereal trade save water?: the impact of virtual water trade on global water use. IWMI Research Reports H035342. International Water Management Institute.
- **Frankel, J.A., Rose, A.K.** 2005. Is Trade Good or Bad for the Environment? Sorting Out the Causality. The Review of Economics and Statistics 87, 85–91. <u>doi:10.1162/0034653053327577</u>.
- **Gawel, E., Bernsen, K.** 2013. What is wrong with virtual water trading? On the limitations of the virtual water concept. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy 31, 168–181.
- **Gouel, C., Laborde, D.** 2021. The crucial role of domestic and international market-mediated adaptation to climate change. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 106, 102408. doi:10.1016/j.jeem.2020.102408.

- Green, J.M.H., Croft, S.A., Dur'an, A.P., Balmford, A.P., Burgess, N.D., Fick, S., Gardner, T.A., Godar, J., Suavet, C., Virah-Sawmy, M., Young, L.E., West, C.D. 2019. Linking global drivers of agricultural trade to on-the-ground impacts on biodiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116, 23202–23208. doi:10.1073/pnas.1905618116.
- **Hertel, T.W., Baldos, U.L., Fuglie, K.O.** 2020. Trade in technology: A potential solution to the food security challenges of the 21st century. European Economic Review 127, 103479. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2020.103479.
- **Hoekstra, A. & Hung, P.** 2005. Globalisation of water resources: International virtual water flows in relation to crop trade. Global Environmental Change 15, 45–56. <u>doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.06.004</u>.
- **Hoekstra**, **A.Y.** 2011. The global dimension of water governance: Why the river basin approach is no longer sufficient and why cooperative action at global level is needed. Water 3, 21–46.
- **Hoekstra, A.Y. & Chapagain, A.K.** 2008. Globalization of Water: Sharing the Planet's Freshwater Resources. John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- Huang, G., Yao, G., Zhao, J., Lisk, M.D., Yu, C., Zhang, X. 2019. The environmental and socioeconomic trade-offs of importing crops to meet domestic food demand in China. Environmental Research Letters 14, 094021. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/ab3c10.
- **Infante-Amate, J., Aguilera, E., Palmeri, F., Guzman, G., Soto, D., Garcia-Ruiz, R., de Molina, M.G.** 2018. Land embodied in Spain's biomass trade and consumption (1900–2008): Historical changes, drivers and impacts. Land Use Policy 78, 493–502. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.07 .019.
- Jayachandran, S., de Laat, J., Lambin, E., C.Y., S., Audy, R., N.E., T. 2017. Cash for carbon: A randomized trial of payments for ecosystem services to reduce deforestation. Science 357, 267–273. doi:10.1126/science.aan0568.
- Johnson, C.K., Hitchens, P.L., Pandit, P.S., Rushmore, J., Smiley Evans, T., Young, C.C.W., Doyle, M.M. 2020. Global shifts in mammalian population trends reveal key predictors of virus spillover risk. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 287, 20192736. doi:10.1098/rspb.2019.273.
- **Kagohashi, K., Tsurumi, T., Managi, S.** 2015. The effects of international trade on water use. PLOS ONE 10, 1–16. <u>doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132133</u>.
- **Karandish, F., Hogeboom, R.J., Hoekstra, A.Y.** 2021. Physical versus virtual water transfers to overcome local water shortages: A comparative analysis of impacts. Advances in Water Resources 147.
- **Kastner, T., Erb, K., Haberl, H.** 2014a. Rapid growth in agricultural trade: effects on global area effciency and the role of management. Environmental Research Letters 9, 034015.
- **Kastner, T., Rivas, M.J.I., Koch, W., Nonhebel, S.** 2012. Global changes in diets and the consequences for land requirements for food. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 6868–6872. doi:10.1073/pnas.1117054109.
- **Kastner, T., Schaffartzik, A., Eisenmenger, N., K.H., E., H., H., F., K.** 2014b. Cropland area embodied in international trade: Contradictory results from different approaches. Ecological Economics 104, 140–144. <u>doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.12.003Get</u>.

- Kroeger, A., Bakhtary, H., Haupt, F., Streck, C. 2017. Eliminating Deforestation from the Cocoa Supply Chain. Technical Report. World Bank. Washington DC. URL: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/26549.
- **Kumar, M.D. & Singh, O.P.** 2005. Virtual water in global food and water policy making: Is there a need for rethinking? Water Resources Management 19, 759–789.
- **Leamer, E.** 1980. The leontief paradox, reconsidered. Journal of Political Economy 88, 495–503.
- **Lenzen, M., Moran, D., Kanemoto, K., Foran, B., Lobefaro, L., Geschke, A.** 2012. International trade drives biodiversity threats in developing nations. Nature Geoscience 486, 109–112. <u>doi:10</u> .1038/nature11145.
- **Leontief, W.** 1953. Domestic Production and Foreign Trade; The American Capital Position Re-Examined. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 97, 332–349.
- **Liu, J., Zhang, Y., Yu, Z.** 2018. Evaluation of physical and economic water-saving efficiency for virtual water flows related to inter-regional crop trade in china. Sustainability 10, 4308. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1011/journal.com/doi/10.101
- Marchand, P., Carr, J.A., Dell'Angelo, J., Fader, M., Gephart, J.A., Kummu, M., Magliocca, N.R., Porkka, M., Puma, M.J., Ratajczak, Z., Rulli, M.C., Seekell, D.A., Suweis, S., Tavoni, A., D'Odorico, P. 2016. Reserves and trade jointly determine exposure to food supply shocks. Environmental Research Letters 11, 095009. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/11/9/095009.
- **Mekonnen, M.M., Hoekstra, A.Y.** 2020. Blue water footprint linked to national consumption and international trade is unsustainable. Nature Food 1, 792–800.
- **Meyfroidt, P., Lambin, E.F., Erb, K.H., Hertel, T.W.** 2013. Globalization of land use: distant drivers of land change and geographic displacement of land use. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 5, 438–444. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2013.04.003.
- **Miteva, D.A., Pattanayak, S.K., Ferraro, P.J.** 2012. Evaluation of biodiversity policy instruments: what works and what doesn't? Oxford Review of Economic Policy 28, 69–92. <u>doi:10.1093/oxrep/grs009</u>.
- **Nordhaus, W.** 2015. Climate clubs: Overcoming free-riding in international climate policy. American Economic Review 105, 1339–1370. doi:10.1257/aer.15000001.
- **O'Bannon, C., Carr, J., Seekell, D.A., D'Odorico, P.** 2014. Globalization of agricultural pollution due to international trade. Hydrology and Earth System Science 18, 503–510. doi:10.5194/hess-18-503-2014.
- **Oki, T., Kanae, S.** 2006. Global hydrological cycles and world water resources. Science 313, 1068–1072.
- Ortiz, A.M.D., Outhwaite, C.L., Dalin, C., Newbold, T. 2021. A review of the interactions between biodiversity, agriculture, climate change, and international trade: research and policy priorities. One Earth 4, 88–101. doi:10.1016/j.oneear.2020.12.008.
- **Pastor, A., Palazzo, A., Havlik, P., Biemans, H., Wada, Y., Obersteiner, M., Kabat, P., Ludwig, F.** 2019. The global nexus of food-trade-water sustaining environmental flows by 2050. Nature Sustainability 2, 499–507. doi:10.1038/s41893-019-0287-1.
- **Poore, J., & Nemecek, T.** 2018. Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. Science 360, 987–992. doi:10.1126/science.aaq0216.

- Qiang, W., Niu, S., Liu, A., Kastner, T., Bie, Q., Wang, X., Cheng, S. 2020. Trends in global virtual land trade in relation to agricultural products. Land Use Policy 92, 104439. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2019.104439.
- **Robinson, G.M.** 2018. Globalization of agriculture. Annual Review of Resource Economics 10, 133–160. doi:10.1146/annurev-resource-100517-023303.
- Rosa, L., Chiarelli, D.D., Tu, C., Rulli, M.C., D'Odorico, P. 2019. Global unsustainable virtual water flows in agricultural trade. Environmental Research Letters 14.
- **Roux, N., Kastner, T., Erb, K.H., Haberl, H.** 2021. Does agricultural trade reduce pressure on land ecosystems? decomposing drivers of the embodied human appropriation of net primary production. Ecological Economics 181, 106915. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106915.
- **Sartori, M., Schiavo, S.** 2015. Connected we stand: a network perspective on trade and global food security. Food Policy 57, 114–127.
- **Sartori, M., Schiavo, S., Fracasso, A., Riccaboni, M.** 2017. Modeling the future evolution of the virtual water trade network: A combination of network and gravity models. Advances in Water Resources 110, 538–548.
- Schaffartzik, A., Haberl, H., Kastner, T., Wiedenhofer, D., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K.H. 2015. Trading land: A review of approaches to accounting for upstream land requirements of traded products. Journal of industrial ecology 19, 703–714. doi:10.1111/jiec.12258.
- **Shapiro, J.S.** 2016. Trade costs, CO2, and the environment. American Economic Journal: Economic Policy 8, 220–54. doi:10.1257/pol.20150168.
- Sun, J., Mooney, H., Wu, W., Tang, H., Tong, Y., Xu, Z., Huang, B., Cheng, Y., Yang, X., Wei, D., Zhang, F., Liu, J. 2018. Importing food damages domestic environment: Evidence from global soybean trade. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115, 5415–5419. doi:10.1073/pnas.1718153115.
- **Taylor, M.S.** 2011. Buffalo hunt: International trade and the virtual extinction of the North American bison. American Economic Review 101, 3162–95. doi:10.1257/aer.101.7.3162.
- **Torres, S.M., Moran, E.F., Silva, R.F.B.d.** 2017. Property rights and the soybean revolution: Shaping how china and brazil are telecoupled. Sustainability 9, 954. <u>doi:10.3390/su9060954</u>.
- van der Ven, H., Rothacker, C., Cashore, B. 2018. Do eco-labels prevent deforestation? Lessons from non-state market driven governance in the soy, palm oil, and cocoa sectors. Global Environmental Change 52, 141–151. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.07.002.
- **Verma, M., Hertel, T., Diffenbaugh, N.** 2014. Market-oriented ethanol and corn-trade policies can reduce climate-induced US corn price volatility. Environmental Research Letters 9, 064028. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/9/6/064028.
- **Vos, J., van Oel, P., Hellegers, P., Veldwisch, G.J., Hoogesteger, J.** 2019. Four perspectives on water for global food production and international trade: incommensurable objectives and implications. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 40, 30–36.
- West, P.C., Gibbs, H.K., Monfreda, C., Wagner, J., Barford, C.C., Carpenter, S.R., Foley, J.A. 2010. Trading carbon for food: Global comparison of carbon stocks vs. crop yields on agricultural land. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 19645–19648. doi:10.1073/pnas.1011078107.

- **Westphal, M., Browne, M., MacKinnon, K., Noble, I.** 2008. The link between international trade and the global distribution of invasive alien species. Biological Invasions 10, 391–398. doi:10.1007/s10530-007-9138-5.
- **Whoriskey, P.** 2019. Chocolate companies sell 'certified cocoa'. But some of those farms use child labor, harm forests. Washington Post url: https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/10/23/chocolate-companies-say-their-cocoa-is-certified-some-farms-use-child-labor-thousands-are accessed on October 7, 2021.
- **Wichelns, D.** 2015. Virtual water and water footprints do not provide helpful insight regarding international trade or water scarcity. Ecological Indicators 52, 277–283.
- **Wiedmann, T., & Lenzen, M.** 2018. Environmental and social footprints of international trade. Nature Geoscience 11, 314–321. doi:10.1038/s41561-018-0113-9.
- Wood, R., Stadler, K., Simas, M., Bulavskaya, T., Giljum, S., Lutter, S., Tukker, A. 2018. Growth in environmental footprints and environmental impacts embodied in trade: Resource efficiency indicators from exiobase3. Journal of Industrial Ecology 22, 553–564. doi:10.1111/jiec.12735.
- Xu, Z., Li, Y., Chau, S.N., Dietz, T., Li, C., Wan, L., Zhang, J., Zhang, L., Li, Y., Chung, M.G., Liu, J. 2020. Impacts of international trade on global sustainable development. Nature Sustainability 3, 964–971. doi:10.1038/s41893-020-0572-z.
- **Zhao, D., Hubacek, K., Feng, K., Sun, L., Liu, J.** 2019. Explaining virtual water trade: A spatial-temporal analysis of the comparative advantage of land, labor and water in China. Water Research 153, 304–314. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2019.01.025.

